DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES Office of the Secretary

Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
Washington, D.C. 20201

Case No: 2016-00868-FOIA-OS
August 16, 2016
Jonathan Cohn

The Huffington Post
jonathan.cohn@huffingtonpost.com

Dear Mr. Cohn:

This letter serves as the final response to your August 16, 2016, Freedom of Information Act
(FOIA) request. Within your request, you sought a copy of correspondence from Mark T.
Bertolini, the Chairman and CEO of Aetna, prior to July 21, 2016, concerning Aetna’s
participation in the Affordable Care Act (ACA) exchanges.

Upon receiving your request, the Immediate Office of the Secretary (IOS) conducted a search
and located a three (3) page letter responsive to your request. This letter was then forwarded to
my office for a final disclosure review. After a careful review of the three (3) page letter, I have
decided to release the letter to you with redactions made to one (1) page pursuant to Exemption 4
of the FOIA (5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(4)).

Exemption 4 of the FOIA protects “trade secrets and commercial or financial information
obtained from a person [that is] privileged or confidential.” Pursuant to this Exemption, I have
withheld four (4) financial estimates calculated by Aetna in association with its potential merger
with Humana.

If you believe that the information withheld should not be exempt from disclosure, or this
response constitutes an adverse determination, you may appeal. By filing an appeal, you
preserve your rights under FOIA and give the agency a chance to review and reconsider your
request and the agency’s decision.

Your appeal must be mailed within 90 days from the date of receipt of this letter, to:

Ms. Catherine Teti

Deputy Agency Chief FOIA Officer

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
Room 729H

200 Independence Avenue, S.W.

Washington, DC 20201

Please clearly mark both the envelope and your letter “Freedom of Information Act Appeal.”
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If you would like to discuss our response before filing an appeal to attempt to resolve your
dispute without going through the appeals process, you may contact the HHS FOIA Public
Liaison for assistance at:

Michael Bell

HHS FOIA Public Liaison

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs
Room 729H

200 Independence Avenue, S.W.

Washington, DC 20201

Telephone: (202) 260-0793
E-mail: HHS FOIA Public Liaison@hhs.gov

If you are unable to resolve your FOIA dispute through our FOIA Public Liaison, the Office of
Government Information Services (OGIS), the Federal FOIA Ombudsman’s office, offers
mediation services to help resolve disputes between FOIA requesters and Federal agencies. The
contact information for OGIS is:

Office of Government Information Services
National Archives and Records Administration
8601 Adelphi Road—OGIS

College Park, MD 20740-6001

Telephone: 202-741-5770
Toll-Free: 1-877-684-6448
E-mail: ogis@nara.gov
Fax: 202-741-5769

There are no charges in this instance because the billable costs are less than our threshold of $25.

Enclosure(s)

Sincerely yours,

Michael S. Marquis
Director
FOI/Privacy Acts Division
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Mark T. Bertolini o
Chairman & CEO a.e n a

151 Farmington Avenue
Hartford, CT 06156

T 860-273-1188 F 860-754-1078
bertolinim@aetna.com

July 5, 2016

Ryan M. Kantor, Esq.

Assistant Chief, Litigation I Section
Department of Justice Antitrust Division
Suite 4100, Liberty Square Building
450 Fifth Street, NW

Washington, DC 20530

Dear Ryan,

We are responding to your June 28 request that Aetna provide information to the Department of
Justice (“DOJ”) concerning Aetna’s participation on the public exchanges created by the Affordable
Care Act (“ACA”) as well as the likely consequences were the DOJ to challenge the transaction
thereby forcing Aetna into litigation, and ultimately were the DOJ's challenge to result in Aetna's
acquisition of Humana not closing.

At the outset, it is important to note that Aetna has been a steadfast and strong supporter of the
developing public exchange business and the Administration's efforts to expand healthcare to all
Americans. The President asked us to take a long-term view when this law went into effect, and,
unlike many others, we have stayed the course and worked constructively to make the public
exchange market work. The acquisition of Humana puts Aetna in a significantly better position to
continue and expand its support.

Unfortunately, a challenge by the DOJ to that acquisition and/or the DOJ successfully blocking the
transaction would have a negative financial impact on Aetna and would impair Aetna's ability to
continue its support, leaving Aetna with no choice but to take actions to steward its financial
health. These contemplated actions would include the actions discussed below.

Although we remain supportive of the Administration’s efforts to expand coverage, we must also
face market realities. Our customers expect us to keep their insurance products affordable and
continually improving, and our shareholders expect that we will generate a market return on invested
capital for them. We have been operating on the public exchanges since the beginning of 2014 at a
substantial loss. And although we have been working to improve our operations over the last 2 V2
years, we are challenged to get to break even this year and it will be some time before we recoup our
investment (including a return on invested capital in the exchange business). As we add new
territories, given the additional startup costs of each new territory, we will incur additional losses.
Our ability to withstand these losses is dependent on our achieving anticipated synergies in the
Humana acquisition.
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As many market observers have noted, the exchanges have succeeded in reducing the ranks of the
uninsured, but they face significant uncertainty as to their economic viability over time, due to lower
than initially expected enrollment, a population that is older and sicker than initially projected, an
inadequate risk mechanism, and other regulatory issues and uncertainties. Making our position in
the exchanges tenable means we need to price and design our coverage in a way that appeals to
exchange beneficiaries while also managing the risk and generating a market return on the capital
invested. This business is sustainable only if we have the financial capacity to take on unexpected
changes in the public exchange environment and to use capital to invest in new markets.

We have consistently indicated to our investors that the public exchanges and the ACA small group
business remain risks to our achieving our financial projections since these markets face significant
hurdles as outlined above. Should the deal be blocked the challenges will be exacerbated as we are
facing significant unrecoverable costs including carrying costs of the debt required to finance the
deal that are projected to bg/®®  |from now to the end of the year, and significant
unrecoverable transaction and integration costs. We currently plan to cover the above costs, as well
as invest in capabilities, improve benefits, pass savings through to members and customers and
expand our business using the more thaa year in synergies we expect to obtain through
the transaction. If we are unable to close the transaction we will need to recover those costs plus a
(©® " Ihreakup fee and an estimated®® [in litigation expenses if the DOJ sues to
enjoin the transaction. At our last Board meeting in June we discussed these issues. The Board has
asked us to put in place contingency planning to mitigate the impact of a failed merger, including
any required changes in our businesses and investment strategy. In addition, as part of our normal
Board Audit Committee review process, we were asked by the Audit Committee of the Board in
April to prepare a review of the performance of our public exchange business. This is scheduled to
be presented to the Audit Committee on July 22.

Our analysis to date makes clear that if the deal were challenged and/or blocked we would need to
take immediate actions to mitigate public exchange and ACA small group losses. Specifically, if the
DOJ sues to enjoin the transaction, we will immediately take action to reduce our 2017 exchange
footprint. We currently plan, as part of our strategy following the acquisition, to expand from 15
states in 2016 to 20 states in 2017. However, if we are in the midst of litigation over the Humana
transaction, given the risks described above, we will not be able to expand to the five additional
states. In addition, we would also withdraw from at least five additional states where generating a
market return would take too long for us to justify, given the costs associated with a potential break-
up of the transaction. In other words, instead of expanding to 20 states next year, we would reduce
our presence to no more than 10 states. We also would not be in a position to provide assistance to
failing cooperative exchanges as we did in Iowa recently.

Finally, based on our analysis to date, we believe it is very likely that we would need to leave the
public exchange business entirely and plan for additional business efficiencies should our deal
ultimately be blocked. By contrast, if the deal proceeds without the diverted time and energy
associated with litigation, we would explore how to devote a portion of the additional synergies
(which are larger than we had planned for when announcing the deal) to supporting even more
public exchange coverage over the next few years.
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The reality is that our continued ability to participate in the public exchanges under the ACA is
ultimately dependent on our ability to continue to invest in the market development of exchange
plans in terms of both startup costs and losscs. As outlined above, those investment decisions cannot
help but be impacted by a failed merger with Humana.

We would welcome the opportunity to provide any further clarification you may need.

Sincerely,

Mark T. Bertolini

Pcter J. Mucchetti, Esq.

Chief, Litigation I Section

Department of Justice Antitrust Division
Suite 4100, Liberty Square Building
450 Fifth Street, NW

Washington, DC 20530

Sonia K. Pfatfenroth, Esq.

Deputy Assistant Attorney General for Operations
U.S. Department of Justice

Antitrust Division

950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW

Washington, DC 20530
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